


To improve the economic, 
social and health status of 
members and staff while 

contributing to the 
development of the wider 
community, by providing 
thrift and credit facilities, 

sickness, accident and death 
benefits in the most reliable, 

efficient, professional and 
accountable manner.

TIP Friendly Society will 
become the leader in the 

profitable and professional 
provision of superior value 

added services to 
Stakeholders within the 

educational sector.
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING 

The Committee of Management of TIP Friendly Society hereby gives notice of its 21st Annual 

General Meeting (AGM) to be held on Saturday, May 27, 2023 starting at 10:00 am at the 

Jamaica Conference Centre. 

The purpose of the meeting is to review and present the 2022 Audited Financial Statements and 

address matters relating to the operations of the Society. The electronic copy of the 2022 Annual 

Report can be found on TIP’s website at www.tipfriendly.com on Thursday, May 25, 2023. 

To attend and participate physically: 

1. Registration will be through our website www.tipfriendly.com and will open on 

Monday, May 15, 2023 at 8:30 am and close on Saturday, May 27, 2023 at 8:00 a.m

2. Upon registration and verification, financial members will receive a confirmation email. 

3. Only financial members in keeping with our Rule Book will be able to participate in the 

voting process 

Kindly note that there will be no provision for a virtual meeting 

For further queries and concerns, please email us at mktgsales@tipfirendly.com 

BY ORDER OF THE COMMITTEE OF MANAGEMENT

LOLA BENNETT (MISS) 

SECRETARY, 

May 12, 2023 

Serving You Is Our Pleasure! 
HEAD OFFICE OCHO RIOS MONTEGO BAY MANDEVILLE 
80 Half-Way-Tree Road   Shop 8, Ocho Rios Comm. Ctr.  The Annex, Shop 27A  24C  Lot#3, Caledonia Road 
Kingston 10 Main Street, Ocho Rios, St. Ann Fairview, MoBay, St. James Mandeville, Manchester 
876-618-1914                           876-877-5267                                          876-382-7289                       876-877-5268 

www.tipfriendly.com                   mktgsales@tipfriendly.com 

www.facebook.com/tipfriendlysociety               www.instagram.com/tipfriendlysociety @tipfs 
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DETAILS 2022 2021 2020

CLAIMS PAYMENT- ACCIDENT 2,203,139.11 802,235.73 1,467,787.73 

CLAIMS PAYMENT - SICKNESS 10,406,620.16 5,638,602.82 6,086,995.70 

CLAIMS PAYMENT  MATERNITY 

- 830,000.00 582,500.00 890,000.00 

DEATH CLAIMS - SELF 

INSURANCE 22,045,517.60 14,799,470.16 16,815,974.78 

STUDENT PLAN  - SELF 

INSURANCE 6,274,978.22 2,011,170.29 2,464,221.79 

GRAND TOTAL TIP'S  PAYOUT 41,762,277.09 23,836,000.00 27,727,000.00 

EXGRATIA -
-

130,000.00 

GRAND TOTAL TIP’S PAYOUT 41,762,277.09 23,836,000.00 27,857,000.00 

TOTAL COUNT 459 343 438

REINSURERS EXPENSE

PERSONAL ACCIDENT 5,123,870.04 8,762,664.88 10,839,940.53 

GROUP LIFE 13,291,263.92 21,293,181.54 26,780,056.00 

TOTAL PAYOUT TO 

REINSURERS 18,415,133.96 30,055,846.42 37,619,996.53
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DONATION REPORT 2022

SCHOOLS 2,438,033.74 

CLUBS/GROUPS AND CHARITY 599,313.96 

COLLEGE 822,495.00 

CHURCH 106,999.00 

MEMEBERS 783,000.00 

JTA 558,800.00 

OTHER 106,500.00 

TOTAL 5,415,141.70 

64%

16%

17%

3%

SCHOOL CLUBS/GROUPS AND CHARITY COLLEGE CHURCH
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TABLE 1: ECONOMIC DATA

Measure 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018

USD to JMD 152.60$ 150.63$ 143.27$ 131.18$ 127.72$ 

Inflation rate 9.36% 7.30% 5.21% 3.91% 3.74%

Treasury Bill- 

90/180 Day 

8.04% 

/8.18%

4.09% 

/4.33%

0.77% 

/0.86%

1.32% 

/1.59%

2.05% 

/2.07%

Unemployment Rate6.60% 7.10% 8.40% 7.72% 9.10%
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TABLE 2: OPERATIONAL PERFORMANCE

Description 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018

$m $m $m $m $m

Net Income 704.34 780.15 604.53 585.08 579.74

Expenses 563.11 458.05 365.10 377.30 358.98

Surplus 141.23 322.10 239.43 207.78 220.76 
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TABLE 3: EXPENDITURE BY EXPENSE GROUP

Operating expenses2022 2021 2020 2019 2018

$m $m $m $m $m

Employee cost 258.96 246.32 214.15 216.00 201.01

Establishment 2.77 2.83 12.07 11.49 11.38

Advertising & 

promotion 33.26 13.00 16.02 23.13 21.99 

General 

expenses 182.03 166.04 119.84 122.93 121.79 

Financial 

expenditure 86.08 29.85 3.03 3.76 2.80 

TOTAL 

EXPENDITURE 563.11 458.05 365.10 377.30 358.98 

TREASURER’S REPORT 
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2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Members savings 1,932 2,054 2,362 2,705 3,016

1,932 
2,054 

2,362 

2,705 

3,016 

 -

 500

 1,000

 1,500

 2,000

 2,500

 3,000

 3,500

TIP Friendly Society 
Members' Savings 2018 to 2022

(expressed in $ millions) 
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TABLE 4: PEARLS RATIO

Indicator Standard 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018

Net loans/Total 

assets 70-80% 64.76% 65.96% 65.68% 64.51% 64.10%

Total savings/Total 

assets 70-80% 49.67% 52.68% 63.56% 62.61% 64.29%

Liquidity reserve/ 

Savings & Deposits >10% 24.20% 20.94% 20.45% 23.49% 21.85%

Delinquency rate <5%. 4.12% 4.23% 4.48% 5.95% 4.56%

Non-earning assets/ 

Total assets <7% 15.40% 15.77% 12.10% 9.21% 12.98%

Operating expense/ 

Average assets <8% 8.36% 1.73% 16.06% 25.22% 12.28%

Net income/ 

Average assets >5% 2.51% 0.80% 4.63% -4.28% 19.83%

Growth in total 

assets >7.1% 17.22% 28.00% 22.67% 7.03% 9.61%

Growth in Members' 

savings >10.2% 11.50% 14.98% 8.32% -2.74% 7.73%

TREASURER’S REPORT 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

To the Registrar of Co-operatives and Friendly Societies
TIP FRIENDLY SOCIETY
(A Society Registered Under the Friendly SocietiesAct)

Report on the audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of TIP Friendly Society (“the Society”) set out on pages

1 to 67, which comprise the statement of financial position at 31 December 2022, the statement of

comprehensive income, the statement of changes in equity and the statement of cash flows for the

year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory

information.

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the

Society as at 31 December 2022, and of its financial performance and cash flows for the year then

ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and the Friendly

Societies Act.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our

responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for

the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We believe that the audit evidence we

have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Society in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board

for Accountants Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants' (IESBA Code). We have fulfilled

our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code.

…/2
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

To the Registrar of Co-operatives and Friendly Societies
TIP FRIENDLY SOCIETY

(A Society Registered Under the Friendly Societies Act)  

Page 2

Report on the audit of the Financial Statements (continued)

Responsibilities of Management and those charged with Governance for the FinancialStatements

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view

in accordance with IFRS and the Friendly Societies Act, and for such internal control as

management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free

from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Society’s ability

to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and

using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the

Society to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with the governance are responsible for overseeing the Society’s financial reporting

process.

Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole

are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors' report

that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee

that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when

it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually

or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of

users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain

professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether

due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and

obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one

resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an

opinion on the effectiveness of the Society’s internal control.

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of  

accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.
…/3
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

To the Registrar of Co-operatives and Friendly Societies
TIP FRIENDLY SOCIETY

(A Society Registered Under the Friendly Societies Act)  

Page 3

Report on the audit of the Financial Statements (continued)

Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (continued)

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of

accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists

related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Society’s ability to

continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are

required to draw attention in our auditors' report to the related disclosures in the financial

statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are

based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors' report. However, future

events or conditions may cause the Society to cease to continue as a going concern.

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including

the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and

events in a manner that presents a true and fair view.

 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entitles

or business activities within the Society to express an opinion on the consolidated financial

statements. We are responsible for the director, supervision and performance of the Society

audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

 We communicate with the Board of Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned

scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant

deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

As required by the Friendly Societies Act, we have obtained all the information and

explanations which, to the best of our knowledge and belief, were necessary for the purposes of

our audit.

In our opinion, proper accounting records have been maintained, so far as appears from our

examination of those records, and the financial statements, which are in agreement therewith, give

the information required by the Friendly Societies Act, in the manner required.

Chartered Accountants

Kingston, Jamaica  

19 May 2023

TIP FRIENDLY SOCIETY ANNUAL REPORT 2022
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TIP FRIENDLY SOCIETY
(A Society Registered Under the Friendly Societies Act)

Statement of Financial Position
As at 31 December 2022

2022 2021

Note $’000 $’000
ASSETS

Earning Assets
Investment properties 6 777,732 42,600

Investment securities 7 427,027 427,360
Loan receivables 8 3,931,752 3,400,600 

Total Earning Assets 5,136,511 3,870,460 

Non-Earning Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 9 168,450 141,495
Other assets 10 166,215 168,855
Property, plant and equipment 11 599,426 993,913

Right-of-use-asset 12 1,080 -

Intangible assets 13 - 4,904 

Total Non-Earning Assets 935,171 1,309,167 

TOTAL ASSETS 6,071,682 5,179,627 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Capital and Reserves
Permanent shares 14 63,306 5 8,438

Institutional capital 15 871,851 760,497
Non-institutional capital 16 720,441 812,722 

Total Capital and Reserves 1,655,598 1,631,657 

LIABILITIES
Interest Bearing Liabilities

Members’ savings 17 3,015,581 2,704,508

External credits 18 1,221,207 567,278

Lease liability 12 1,155 -

Total Interest Bearing Liabilities 4,237,943 3,271,786 

Non-Interest Bearing Liabilities
Payables 19 178,141 276,184 

Total Non-Interest Bearing Liabilities 178,141 276,184 

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Approved for issue by the Board of Directors on 19 May 2023 and signed on its behalf by:

TIP FRIENDLY SOCIETY ANNUAL REPORT 2022
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TIP FRIENDLY SOCIETY
Page 2

(A Society Registered Under the Friendly Societies Act)

Statement of Comprehensive Income

Year ended 31 December 2022

Note 2022 2021

$’000 $’000

Interest Income

Interest on loans 20 521,100 466,906

Interest on investment securities 21 18,270 42,742

539,370 509,648

Interest Expense

Interest on members’ savings (69,125) (53,745)

Finance costs, net 22 (83,698) (25,078)

Net Interest Income 386,547 430,825

Increase in impairment losses on loans 4(a)(iii) (121,274) (10,229)

Net interest income after provision for loan losses 265,273 420,596

Non-Interest Income/(expenses)

Insurance premium 23 311,692 287,410

Other finance costs (17,420) (30,056)

294,272 257,354

Fair value gains on investment properties - 7,500

Other income 24 61,098 69,621

Net Non-Interest Income 355,370 334,475

Gross Income 620,643 755,071

Operating expenses 25 (479,412) (432,969)

Surplus before honoraria and other payment 141,231 322,102

Honoraria (6,000) (6,000)

Errol Henry Fund 26 (7,062) (16,105)

Surplus for the year, being total comprehensive
income 128,169 299,997

TIP FRIENDLY SOCIETY ANNUAL REPORT 2022
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TIP FRIENDLY SOCIETY
(A Society Registered Under the Friendly Societies Act)

Statement of Changes in Equity  

Year ended 31 December 2022

Permanent  
Shares

Institutional Capital

Statutory Special  
Reserve Reserve

Non-institutional Capital

Other Undistributed  
Reserve Surplus Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Balance at 31 December 2020 58,749 118,941 546,345 381,473 134,061 1,239,569

Transactions with members:

Decrease in permanent shares (311) - - - - (311)

Movement in reserves:

5% transfer to statutory - 16,105 - - (16,105) -
reserve

20% transfer to special reserve - - 51,471 - (51,471) -

Transfer to special reserve - - 51,471 - (51,471) -

Transfer to other reserve - - - - (21,217) (21,217)

Surplus arising on the revaluation

of property, plant & equipment - -

(Note 15)

Claim payments - -

-

(23,836)

200,333 - 200,333

- - (23,836)

Dividends - - - - (62,878) (62,878)

Total comprehensive income - - - - 299,997 299,997

Balance at 31 December 2021 58,438 135,046 625,451 581,806 230,916 1,631,657

Transactions with members:
-

Increase in permanent shares 4,868 - - - 4,868

Movement in reserves:

5% transfer to statutory  reserve - 7,062

-

- - (7,062) -

20% transfer to special reserve - - 58,854 - (58,854) -

27.5% transfer to special  reserve
- -

- 80,924
-

-
(80,924) -

Claim payments - - (35,486) - - (35,486)

Dividends - - - - (73,610) (73,610)

Total comprehensive income - - - - 128,169 128,169

Balance at 31 December 2022
63,306 142,108 729,743 581,806 138,635 1,655,598

TIP FRIENDLY SOCIETY ANNUAL REPORT 2022
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TIP FRIENDLY SOCIETY
(A Society Registered Under the Friendly Societies Act)

Statement of Cash Flows

Year ended 31 December 2022

2022

2021

CASH RESOURCES WERE (USED IN)/PROVIDED BY $’000 $’000

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Net surplus for year 128,169 299,997

Adjustments for: -

Amortization of intangible assets 4,904 3,406

Amortization of right-of-use asset 360 -

Bad debt written off 18,279 24,567

Depreciation 42,014 19,326

Impairment losses on loans 121,274 10,229

Fair value gains on investment properties - (7,500)

Fair value gains on investment securities (12,027) (12,360)

Interest income (521,100) (466,906)

Interest expense 151,219 78,301

Lease interest expense 99 -

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment - 7,048

Loss on disposal of intangible assets - 139

Foreign exchange losses/(gains) 40 (188)

(66,769) (43,941)

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Increase loan receivables (653,764) (891,076)

Decrease/(increase) in other assets 2,640 (47,386)

Increase in members’ savings 311,073 342,371

(Decrease)/increase in payables (109,237) 133,891

Cash used in operating activities (516,057) (506,141)

Interest received 504,159 445,900

Interest paid (140,024) (78,301)

Lease interest paid (99) -

Net cash used in operating activities (152,021) (138,542)

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (12,375) (512,007)

Purchase of investment property (370,385) -

Investment securities 12,360 185,811

Net cash used in investing activities (370,400) (326,196

Cash flows from Financing Activities

Loan proceeds 653,929 567,278

Permanent shares 4,868 (311)

Claims payments (35,486) (23,836)

Lease principal payments (285) -

Dividends paid (73,610) (62,878)

Net cash provided by investing activities 549,416 480,253

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 26,995 15,515

Effects of foreign exchange on cash and cash equivalents (40) 188

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 141,495 125,792

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENT AT END OF YEAR 168,450 141,495

Represented by:

Cash at bank and in hand 168,450 141,495

TIP FRIENDLY SOCIETY ANNUAL REPORT 2022



TIP FRIENDLY SOCIETY
(A Society Registered Under the Friendly Societies Act)

Notes to the Financial Statements  

31 December 2022

1. Identification and Principal Activities

TIP Friendly Society (“the Society”) is incorporated under the laws of Jamaica and is

registered under the Friendly Societies Act. The Society’s operations are concentrated in the

parishes of St. Andrew, Manchester, St. James and St.Ann.

The Society’s registered office is located at 80 Half Way Tree Road, Kingston 10, Jamaica.

Its principal activities are to provide specific benefits for members by voluntary subscription

of members with or without aid or donation and to solicit savings from its members in the

form of deposits for the provision of sickness, accident and death benefits to members and

their dependents.

Membership of the Society is opened to all employed persons in the field of education in

Jamaica with certain provisions.

The Friendly Societies Act requires, among other provisions, that at least 5% of net surplus

and 20% of net contribution be transferred annually from undistributed surplus to a statutory

and special reserve fund respectively.

The Society is exempt from income tax and stamp duty under section 27 (1 & 2) of the

Friendly Societies Act.

These financial statements are presented in Jamaican dollars, which is the functional currency

and are expressed in thousands of dollars unless otherwise stated.

TIP FRIENDLY SOCIETY ANNUAL REPORT 2022
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TIP FRIENDLY SOCIETY
(A Society Registered Under the Friendly Societies Act)

Notes to the Financial Statements  

31 December 2022

2. Summary of significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are

set out below. These policies have been consistently applied for all the years presented. Where

necessary, prior year comparatives have been restated and reclassified to conform to current

year presentation.

(a) Basis of preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International

Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), and their interpretations adopted by the

International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). The financial statements have been

prepared under the historical cost convention, except for certain properties and financial

asserts that are measured at fair value or revalued amounts. They are also prepared in

accordance with the provisions of the Friendly Societies Act.

The financial statements comprise the statement of financial position, the statement of

comprehensive income, the statement of changes in equity, the statement of cash flows

and the notes.

The preparation of financial statements in compliance with IFRS requires management

to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and

liabilities, contingent assets and contingent liabilities at the end of the reporting period

and the total comprehensive income during the reporting period. The Society makes

estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates

will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and underlying

assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis and any adjustments that may be

necessary would be reflected in the year in which actual results are known. The areas

involving a higher degree of judgment in complexity or areas where assumptions or

estimates are significant to the financial statements are discussed in Note 5.
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Notes to the Financial Statements  

31 December 2022

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(a) Basis of preparation (continued)

Standards, interpretations, and amendments to published standards effective in the

current year

The following amendments to standards have been adopted by the Society for the first

time which have been issued and are effective for mandatory adoption for the financial

year beginning on or after 1 January 2022:

Property, Plant and Equipment — Proceeds before Intended Use (Amendments to

IAS 16) (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022) amends the

standard to prohibit deducting from the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment

any proceeds from selling items produced while bringing that asset to the location and

condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by

management. Instead, an entity recognises the proceeds from selling such items, and the

cost of producing those items, in profit or loss.

Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a Contract (Amendments to IAS 37),

(effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022) specifies that the

‘cost of fulfilling’ a contract comprises the ‘costs that relate directly to the contract’.

Costs that relate directly to a contract can either be incremental costs of fulfilling that

contract (examples would be direct labour, materials) or an allocation of other costs that

relate directly to fulfilling contracts (an example would be the allocation of the

depreciation charge for an item of property, plant and equipment used in fulfilling the

contract).

Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018–2020 are effective for annual reporting

periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022. The IASB issued its Annual Improvements

to IFRSs 2015-2017 cycle amending a number of standards:

 IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’ - Fees in the ‘10 per cent’ test for

derecognition of financial liabilities. The amendment clarifies which fees an

entity includes when it applies the ‘10 per cent’ test in in assessing whether to

derecognise a financial liability. An entity includes only fees paid or received

between the entity (the borrower) and the lender, including fees paid or received

by either the entity or the lender on the other’s behalf.

The amendments did not result in any material effect on the Group’s financial

statements.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(a) Basis of preparation (continued)

Standards, amendments, and interpretations to existing standards that are not yet

effective and have not been early adopted by the Society (continued)

At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, certain new accounting

standards, amendments and interpretation to existing standards have been issued which

are not yet effective, and which the Company has not early adopted. The Group has

assessed the relevance of all such new standards, interpretations and amendments and

has determined that the following may be relevant to its operations. Unless stated

otherwise, the impact of the changes is still being assessed by management.

Narrow scope amendments to IAS 1, Practice statement 2 and IAS 8, (effective for

annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023). The amendments aim to improve

accounting policy disclosures and to help users of the financial statements to distinguish

between changes in accounting estimates and changes in accounting policies.

Amendments to IAS 1, Presentation of financial statements’ on classification of

liabilities, (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023). These

narrow-scope amendments to IAS 1, ‘Presentation of financial statements’, clarify that

liabilities are classified as either current or non-current, depending on the rights that

exist at the end of the reporting period. Classification is unaffected by the expectations

of the entity or events after the reporting date (for example, the receipt of a waiver or a

breach of covenant). The amendment also clarifies what IAS 1 means when it refers to

the ‘settlement’ of a liability.

There are no other standards, interpretations or amendments to existing standards that are

not yet effective that would be expected to have a material impact on the operations of the

Society.
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31 December 2022

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(b) Property, plant and equipment

(i) Owned assets:

Items of property, plant and equipment are stated at cost or deemed cost less

accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Cost includes expenditures that

are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-constructed

assets includes the cost of materials, direct labour and related costs to put the asset

into service.

The cost of replacing part of an item of plant and equipment is recognised in the

carrying amount of an item if it is probable that the future economic benefits

embodied within the part will flow to the Society and its cost can be measured

reliably. The costs of day-to-day servicing of property, plant and equipment are

recognised in surplus or deficit as incurred.

Freehold land and buildings are subsequently carried at fair value, based on periodic

valuations by a professional qualified valuer. These revaluations are made with

sufficient regularity to ensure that the carrying amount does not differ materially

from that which would be determined using fair value at end of the reporting period.

Changes in fair value are recognised in other comprehensive income and

accumulated in the property revaluation reserve except to the extent that any

decrease in value in excess of the credit balance on the revaluation reserve, or

reversal of such a transaction, is recognised in surplus or deficit.

(ii) Depreciation

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis at rates to write off the carrying

value of the assets over their period of expected useful lives. Land and work-in-

progress are not depreciated. The annual depreciation rates are as follows:

Buildings 2 ½ %
Computer equipment 25%
Furniture and fixtures 10%
Leasehold improvement 10%
Office equipment 20%
Motor bike 12 ½%

Depreciation methods and useful lives residual values are reviewed at each reporting

date and adjusted if applicable. Where the carrying amount of an asset is greater than its

estimated recoverable amount, it is written down immediately to its recoverable amount.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(b) Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Gains and losses on disposals of property, plant and equipment are determined by

comparing proceeds with the carrying amount and are included in the statement of

comprehensive income.

Repairs and maintenances are charged to the statement of comprehensive income during

the financial period in which they are incurred.

(c) Investment properties

Investment properties comprise of land and buildings held to earn rental and/or for  

capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including transaction costs.  

Subsequent to initial recognition, they are measured at fair value.

Investment properties, which are not occupied by society and related parties, are treated

as long-term investments, and carried at cost. Under the cost model, investment is

measured at cost less accumulated depreciation, and any accumulated impairment losses.

Cost is the amount of cash or cash equivalent paid, or the fair value of other consideration

given to acquire an asset at the time of its acquisition.

(d) Intangible assets

This represents the costs of computer software, which includes costs incurred to acquire

and bring to use the specific software, as well as certain acquired computer software

licences. These intangible assets are acquired separately and reported at cost less

accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses. The costs of these

intangible assets are amortized over their estimated useful life of three years. The

estimated useful life and amortization method are reviewed at the end of each annual

reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective

basis.

Computer software 33 1/3 %

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal or when no future economic benefits are

expected from use or disposal. Gains or losses arising from derecognition, measured as

the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are

recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(e) Financial instruments 

Classification

The Society classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories:

those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either through other comprehensive  

income (OCI) or through profit or loss), and

 those to be measured at amortized cost.

The classification depends on the Society’s business model for managing the financial  

assets and the contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either be recorded in profit or loss

or OCI. For investments in equity instruments that are not held for trading, this will depend

on whether the Society has made an irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition

to account for the equity investment at fair value through other comprehensive income

(FVOCI).

The Society reclassifies debt investments when and only when its business model for  

managing those assets changes.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade-date, the date

on which the Society commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are

derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired

or have been transferred and the Society has transferred substantially all the risks and

rewards of ownership.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Society measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the

case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL), transaction costs

that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of

financial assets carried at FVPL are expensed in profit or loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when

determining whether their cash flows are solely payment of principal and interest.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(e) Financial instruments (continued)

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the Society’s business model

for managing the asset and the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There are three

measurement categories into which the Society classifies its debt instruments:

 Amortized cost: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where

those cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest are measured at

amortized cost. Interest income from these financial assets is included in finance

income using the effective interest rate method. Any gain or loss arising on

derecognition is recognised directly in profit or loss and presented in other

gains/(losses) together with foreign exchange gains and losses. Impairment losses are

presented as separate line item in the statement of profit or loss.

 FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for selling

the financial assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent solely payments of

principal and interest, are measured at FVOCI. Movements in the carrying amount

are taken through OCI, except for the recognition of impairment gains or losses,

interest income and foreign exchange gains and losses which are recognised in profit

or loss. When the financial asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss

previously recognised in OCI is reclassified from equity to profit or loss and

recognised in other gains/(losses). Interest income from these financial assets is

included in finance income using the effective interest rate method. Foreign exchange

gains and losses are presented in other gains/(losses) and impairment expenses are

presented as separate line item in the statement of profit or loss.

 FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortized cost or FVOCI are measured

at FVPL. A gain or loss on a debt investment that is subsequently measured at FVPL

is recognised in profit or loss and presented net within other gains/(losses) in the

period in which it arises.

Impairment

The Society assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected credit losses associated

with its debt instruments carried at amortized cost and FVOCI. The impairment

methodology applied depends on whether there has been a significant increase in credit

risk.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(f) Fair value of financial instruments

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to both a financial asset of one

enterprise and a financial liability or equity instrument of another enterprise. Financial

assets carried on the statement of financial position include investments, loans

receivables and cash and cash equivalents. Financial liabilities consist of members’

savings, external credits and payables.

Generally financial instruments are recognized on the statement of financial position

when the Society becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments. The

particular recognition methods adopted are disclosed in the respective accounting

policies associated with each item.

The fair values of the financial instruments are discussed in Note 3(a)(iii).

(g) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash comprises cash in hand and demand and call deposits with banks. Cash equivalents

are short term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts

of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value and are held for the

purpose of meeting short-term cash commitment rather than for investment or other

purposes.

Cash and cash equivalents are carried in the statement of financial position at cost. For  

the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at  

bank and in hand and short term deposits.

(h) Other assets

Other receivables are carried at anticipated realized value. An estimate is made for

doubtful receivables based on all outstanding amounts at year-end. Bad debts are written

off in the year in which they are identified.

(i) Institutional capital

Institutional capital includes the statutory and special reserve, established as set out in

Section 68 (7) (ii) of the Friendly Societies Act and Regulations. These are set aside in

order to strengthen the capital base of the Society and thereby protect the interest of

members. These reserves are not available for distribution.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(j) Members’ shares

(1) Permanent shares

Permanent shares are equity shares and form part of the capital of the Society. All

new applicants for membership and existing members of the Society are required to

subscribe to a minimum of 2,000 permanent shares. These shares are issued at a par

value of $1 each or at a selling price per unit which prevails at the time of

subscription.

Permanent shares are not withdrawable but may be redeemable subject to the sale,

transfer, or repurchase of such shares. Dividends may be paid on permanent shares

subject to the profitability of the Society.

(2) Voluntary shares

Every member shall subscribe to a minimum of 1 voluntary share at a par

value of $1 each or at a selling price per unit which prevails at the time of

subscription.

Members’ voluntary shares represent savings of the Society’s members, to satisfy

membership requirements and to facilitate eligibility for loans and other benefits.

These shares are treated as liabilities of the Society. Dividends may be paid on

voluntary shares subject to the discretion and profitability of the Society.

(k) Impairment of non-financial assets

At each statement of financial position date, the Society reviews the carrying amounts of

its assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an

impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is

estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where it is not

possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Society estimates

the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than

its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced

to its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognized as an expense immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or

cash-generating unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so

that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have

been determined had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset (or cash-generating

unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognized as income

immediately.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(l) Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred.

Borrowings are subsequently carried at amortized cost; any difference between the

proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the income

statement over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as transaction costs of the

loan to the extent that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down.

In this case, the fee is deferred until the draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no

evidence that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is

capitalized as a pre-payment for liquidity services and amortized over the period of the

facility to which it relates.

Preference shares, which are mandatorily redeemable on a specific date, are classified as

liabilities. The dividends on these preference shares are recognised in the income

statement as interest expense.

Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction

or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial

period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those

assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending

their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for

capitalization. All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in

which they are incurred.

(m)Payables

Payables, including provisions, are stated at their nominal value. A provision is

recognised in the statement of financial position when the Society has a present legal or

constructive obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of

resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a

reliable estimate of the amount can be made. If the effect is material, provisions are

determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a rate that reflects current

market assessments of the time value of money, and where appropriate, the risks specific

to the liability.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(n) Foreign currency translation

Foreign currency transactions are accounted for at the exchange rate prevailing at the dates

of the transactions. Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are transalated

into Jamaican dollars at the exchange rate prevailing at the date of the statement of financial

position, that is, in the case of each currency, the Bank of Jamaica weighted average buying

and selling rates at that date. Gains and losses arising from fluctuations in exchange rates

are reflected in the statement of comprehensive income.

(o) Revenue recognition

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the

services provided in the ordinary course of the Society’s activities.

Interest income

Interest income and expense are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income

using the effective yield method.

Interest income is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to

the Society and the amount of revenue can be measured reliably. Interest revenue is accrued

on a time basis by reference to principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate

applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipt through

the expected life of the financial assets to that asset’s net carrying amount on initial

recognition.

Rental income

Rental income is generated from the subletting of properties in Mandeville, Manchester

and Montego Bay, St. James, which are rented properties. Revenue from providing services

is recognised in the accounting period in which the services are rendered.

The customer pays the fixed amount based on a payment schedule. If the services rendered

by the Society exceed the payment, a contract asset is recognised. If the payments exceed

the services rendered, a contract liability is recognised.

Customers are invoiced on a monthly basis and consideration is payable when invoiced.

Fee income

Fee income from contracts with customers is measured based on the consideration

specified in a contract with a customer. Fees are recognised on the accrual basis when

the related services have been provided.

(p) Comparative information

Where necessary comparative figures have been reclassified to conform with changes in

presentation.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(q) Related party transactions

A party is related to the Society, if:

(i) directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, the party, is controlled by,

or is under common control with, the Society (this includes parents, subsidiaries and

fellow subsidiaries); has an interest in the Society that gives it significant influence

over the Society; or has joint control over the Society;

(ii) the party is an associate of the Society;

(iii) the party is a joint venture in which the Society is a venturer;

(iv) the party is a member of the key management personnel of the Society or itsparent;

(v) the party is a close member of the family of any individual referred to in (i) or(iv);

(vi) the party is the Society that is controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced

by, or for which significant voting power in such entity resides with, directly or

indirectly, any individual referred to in (iv) or (v); or

(vii) the party is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of the

Society, or of any Society that is a related party of the Society.

A related party transaction is a transfer of resources, services or obligations between

related parties, regardless of whether a price is charged. The Society has a related party

relationship with its directors and key management personnel, representing certain senior

officers of the Society.

(r) Employee benefits

Post employment benefit costs

The Society participates in a defined contribution pension scheme with Sagicor Life

Jamaica for employees who have satisfied certain minimum service requirements. The

scheme is funded by equal contributions of employer and employees of 5% of

pensionable salaries with an option for employees to contribute up to an additional 10%

of pensionable salaries.

The assets are held independently of the Society’s assets in a separate trustee

administered fund.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(s) Employee benefits (continued)  

Leave accruals

The Society’s vacation leave policy allows for unused vacation to be carried forward to

a maximum of one (1) year. All outstanding leave is recognised in the statement of

comprehensive income. All obligations in respect of outstanding leave are recognised in

the statement of financial position in the year to which it relates.

(t) Financial liabilities

The Society’s financial liabilities net of transaction costs are initially measured at fair

value and are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest

method. At the reporting date, the items classified as financial liabilities are members’

savings, external credits and payables.

(u) Repurchase agreements

The purchase and sales of securities under resale and repurchase agreements are treated

as collateral lending and borrowing transactions. The related interest income and expense

are recorded on the accrual basis.

(v) Members’ saving

Saving deposits are recognized initially at the normal amount when funds are received.

Deposits are subsequently stated at amortized cost.

(w) Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities

All leases are accounted for by recognising a right-of-use asset and a lease liability  

except for:
(i) Leases of low value assets; and

(ii) Leases with a duration of 12 months or less.

Lease liabilities are measured at the present value of the contractual payments due to the

lessor over the lease term, with the discount rate determined by reference to the rate

inherent in the lease unless (as is typically the case) this is not readily determinable, in

which case the company’s incremental borrowing rate on commencement of the lease

is used. Variable lease payments are only included in the measurement of the lease

liability if they depend on an index or rate. In such cases, the initial measurement of the

lease liability assumes the variable element will remain unchanged throughout the lease

term. Other variable lease payments are expensed in the period to which they relate.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(w) Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities (continued)

On initial recognition, the carrying value of the lease liability also includes:

(iii)

(i) amounts expected to be payable under any residual value guarantee;

(ii) the exercise price of any purchase option granted in favour of the company if it is  

reasonable certain to assess that option;

any penalties payable for terminating the lease, if the term of the lease has been  

estimated on the basis of termination option being exercised.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the company:

(i) since it does not have recent third-party financing, uses a build-up approach that  

starts with a risk-free interest rate adjusted for credit risk for leases, and

(ii) makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g. term, currency and security.

Right of use assets are initially measured at the amount of the lease liability, reduced for  

any lease incentives received, and increased for:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

lease payments made at or before commencement of the lease;

initial direct costs incurred; and

the amount of any provision recognised where the company is contractually

required to dismantle, remove or restore the leased asset (typically leasehold

dilapidations).

Subsequent to initial measurement lease liabilities increase as a result of interest charged

at a constant rate on the balance outstanding and are reduced for lease payments made.

Right-of-use assets are amortized on a straight-line basis over the remaining term of the

lease or over the remaining economic life of the asset if, rarely, this is judged to be shorter

than the lease term.

Payments associated with short-term leases and all leases of low-value assets are

recognised on a straight-line basis as an expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are

leases with a lease term of 12 months or less. Low-value assets are assets valued as

US$5,000 or less when new. The group has no short-term leases or leases for low valued

assets at this time.)
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(w) Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities (continued)

Extension and termination options

Extension and termination options are included in a number of property and equipment

leases across the company. These are used to maximise operational flexibility in terms

of managing the assets used in the group’s operations. The majority of extension and

termination options held are exercisable only by the group and not by the respective

lessor.

When the group renegotiates the contractual terms of a lease with the lessor, the

accounting depends on the nature of the modification:

if the renegotiation results in one or more additional assets being leased for an amount

commensurate with the stand-alone price for the additional rights-of-use obtained,

the modification is accounted for as a separate lease in accordance with the above

policy.

in all other cases where the renegotiation increases the scope of the lease (whether

that is an extension to the lease term, or one or more additional assets being leased),

the lease liability is remeasured using the discount rate applicable on the modification

date, with the right-of-use asset being adjusted by the same amount.

if the renegotiation results in a decrease in the scope of the lease, both the carrying

amount of the lease liability and right-of-use asset are reduced by the same proportion

to reflect the partial or full termination of the lease with any difference recognised in

profit or loss. The lease liability is then further adjusted to ensure its carrying amount

reflects the amount of the renegotiated payments over the renegotiated term, with the

modified lease payments discounted at the rate applicable on the modification date.

The right-of-use asset is adjusted by the same amount.

The carrying value of lease liabilities is similarly revised when the variable element of

future lease payments dependent on a rate or index is revised. In both cases an equivalent

adjustment is made to the carrying value of the right-of-use asset, with the revised

carrying amount being amortized over the remaining (revised) lease term.

For contracts that both convey a right to the group to use an identified asset and require

services to be provided to the group by the lessor, the group has elected to account for

the entire contract as a lease, i.e. it does not allocate any amount of the contractual

payments to, and account separately for, any services provided by the supplier as part of

the contract.
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3. Effect of changes in accounting policies

The company adopted IAS 40 with a transition date from year end 31 December 2022. This

note explains the impact of the adoption on the company’ financial statements.

As indicated the company has adopted IAS 40 from 31 December 2022, and has chosen not to

restate comparatives for the 2021 reporting period, as permitted under the specific transition

provisions in the standard.

The company applied the following practical expedients when applying IAS 40 to investment

property using the cost model instead of the fair value method.

 Under the cost model, investment is measured at cost less accumulated depreciation,  

and any accumulated impairment losses.

 The depreciation method used.

 The useful lives of the depreciation rates used.

 Reconciliation of the carrying amount of investment property at the beginning and end  

of the period

 a reconciliation of the carrying amount of investment property at the beginning and  

end of the period, showing the following:

 additions, disclosing separately those additions resulting from acquisitions and those  

resulting from subsequent expenditure recognised as an asset.

 additions resulting from acquisitions through business combinations.

 assets classified as held for sale or included in a disposal group classified as held for  

sale in accordance with IFRS 5 and other disposals.
Depreciation

IAS 8 applies to any change in accounting policies that is made when an entity first applies this

standard and chooses to use the cost model. The effect of the change in accounting policies

includes the reclassification of any amount held in revaluation surplus for investment property.

When an entity uses the cost model for investment property, transfers between categories do

not change the carrying amount of the property transferred, and they do not change the cost of

the property for measurement or disclosure purposes.
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4. Financial Risk Management

The Society’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including fair

value interest rate risk, currency risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Society

manages risk through a framework of risk principles, organizational structures and risk

management and monitoring processes that are closely aligned with the activities of the

Society. Risk management policies are designed to identify and analyse these risks, to set

appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor the risks and adherence to limits by means

of reliable and up-to-date information systems. The Society’s overall risk management

programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to achieve an

appropriate balance between risks and return and minimize potential adverse effects on the

Society’s financial performance.

The Society regularly reviews its risk management policies and systems to reflect changes in

markets, products and emerging best practice.

The Board of Directors is ultimately responsible for the establishment and oversight of the

Society’s risk management framework. The Board has established committees for managing

and monitoring risks.

Three key committees for managing and maintaining risks are as follows:

(1) Supervisory Committee

The Supervisory Committee oversees the internal audit function of the Society and

ensures that internal procedures and controls are adhered to. The Supervisory

Committee undertakes both regular and ad hoc reviews of risk management controls

and procedures, the results of which are reported to the Board.

(2) Credit Committee

The Credit Committee overseas the approval of credit facilities to members. It is also

primarily responsible for monitoring the quality of loan portfolio.

(3) Finance Committee

The Finance Committee is responsible for overseeing the management of the

Society’s assets and liabilities and the overall financial structure.

These committees comprise persons independent of management and reports to the Board on

a monthly basis.
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4. Financial Risk Management (continued)

(a) Financial instruments

In common with all other businesses, the Society’s activities expose it to a variety of

risks that arise from its use of financial instruments. This note describes the Society’s

objectives, policies and processes for managing those risks to minimize potential adverse

effects on the financial performance of the Society and the methods used to measure

them.

(i) Principal financial instruments

The principal financial instruments used by the Society from which financial instrument

risk arises, are as follows:

- Financial investments

- Loan receivables

- Cash and cash equivalents

- Members’ savings

- External credits

- Payables

(ii) Financial instruments by category

Financial assets

Assets at Assets at fair
amortized value through

cost profit or loss Total

$’000 $’000 $’000

As at 31 December 2022:

Cash and cash equivalents 168,450 - 168,450

Financial investments 275,000 152,027 427,027
Loan receivables 3,931,752 - 3,931,752

4,375,202 152,027 4,527,229

Assets at Assets at fair

amortized value through
cost profit or loss Total

$’000 $’000 $’000

As at 31 December 2021:

Cash and cash equivalents 141,495 - 141,495

Financial investments 275,000 152,360 427,360
Loan receivables 3,400,600 - 3,400,600

3,817,095 152,360 3,969,455
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4. Financial Risk Management (continued)

(a) Financial instruments (continued)

(ii) Financial instruments by category (continued)

Financial liabilities at amortized cost

2022

$’000

2021

$’000

Payables 178,141 276,184

Members’ savings 3,015,581 2,704,508

External credits 1,221,207 567,278

4,414,929 3,547,970

(iii) Fair value estimates

Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or liability settled,

between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transa1ction. Market price is

used to determine fair value where an active market (such as a recognised stock

exchange) exists as it is the best evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument.

Financial instruments that are measured in the statement of financial position at fair value

are classified by level in one of the following fair value measurement hierarchy:

Level 1 - Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. This level

includes listed equity securities and debt instruments on exchanges.

Level 2 - Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for

the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly. This includes financial assets

with fair values based on broker quotes.

Level 3 - Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data

(unobservable inputs). This level includes equity investments and debt

instruments with significant unobservable components. This hierarchy

requires the use of observable market data when available.

The amount included in the financial statements for cash and cash equivalents, loans

receivables and payables reflect their approximate fair values because of the short-term

maturity of these instruments. The fair value for borrowings is assumed to approximate

carrying value as the contractual cash flows are at current market interest rates that are

available to the Society for similar financial instruments.
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4. Financial Risk Management (continued)

(a) Financial instruments (continued)

(iii) Fair value estimates (continued)

The fair value of property, plant and equipment and investment properties are stated at

revalued amounts for buildings.

The fair values of investment securities in unit trusts were estimated based on prevailing

market prices at period end. They are initially recognized at fair value and subsequently

measured at year-end realization prices as quoted by the respective investment houses,

with changes in fair value being including in profit or loss.

Financial instruments classified as fair value through other comprehensive income and fair

value through profit and loss investments are disclosed in Note 6. Unquoted investments

are classified as level 2 and 3 and quoted instruments are classified as level 1.

The following table presents the assets that are measured at fair value.

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2022

Financial assets measured at:

Fair value through profit

and loss - 152,027 - 152,027
Amortized cost - 275,000 - 275,000

- 427,027 - 427,027

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2021

Financial assets measured at:

Fair value through profit

and loss - 152,360 - 152,360
Amortized cost - 275,000 - 275,000

- 427,360 - 427,360
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4. Financial risk management (continued)

The Society’s overall risk management programme seeks to minimize potential adverse  

effects on the Society’s financial performance. There have been no significant changes  

to the Society’s exposure to financial risks or the manner in which it manages and  

measures its risks.

(b) Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Society if a member or counterparty to a

financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations. Credit risk arises from loans

to members, deposits with banks and other financial institutions and investment

securities.

(i) Loans to members

Management of risk

The Society assesses the probability of default of individual borrowers using internal

ratings. The Society assesses each borrower on four critical factors. These factors

are the member’s credit history, ability to pay linked to the industry benchmarked

debt service ratio, character profile and the member’s economic stability, based on

employment and place of abode.

Borrowers are segmented into two rating classes performing and non-

performing.

Credit review process

The management of credit risk in respect of loans to members is delegated to  

the Credit Committee. The Committee is responsible for oversight of the  

Society’s credit risk, including formulating credit policies, establishing the  

authorisation structure for the approval of credit facilities, reviewing and  

assessing credit risk, and limiting concentration of exposure to counterparties.

The credit quality review process allows the Society to assess the potential loss

as a result of the risk to which it is exposed and take corrective action. Exposure to  

credit risk is managed, in part, by obtaining collateral and personal guarantees.
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4. Financial Risk Management (continued)

(b) Credit Risk (continued)

(i) Loans to members (continued)

Collateral

The Society holds collateral against loans to members in the form of mortgage

interest over property, lien over motor vehicles, hypothecation of shares held in the

Society and guarantees. Estimates of fair value are based on the values of collateral

assessed at the time of borrowing and are generally not updated until a loan is

individually assessed as impaired.

Collateral is not generally held against deposits and investment securities, except

when securities are held as part of reverse repurchase agreements. An estimate of

the fair value of collateral held against financial assets is not readily available.

Write-off policy

The Society writes off loans and any related allowances for impairment losses when

it is determined that the loans are uncollectible. This determination is usually made

after considering information such as changes in borrower’s financial position, or

that proceeds from collateral will not be sufficient to pay back the entire exposure.

Additionally, loans are written off once they are delinquent for over 365 days based

on regulatory requirements and are subject to approval by the Board and the

Registrar.

(ii) Liquid assets and investment securities

The Society limits its exposure to credit risk by investing only in liquid assets and  

only with counterparties that have a high credit quality and Government of Jamaica  

securities. Therefore, management does not expect any counterparty to fail to  meet 

its obligations.

The Society has documented policies which facilitate the management of credit risk

on investment securities and resale agreements. The Society’s exposure and credit

ratings of its counterparties are continually monitored.
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4. Financial Risk Management (continued)

(b) Credit Risk (continued)

(iii) Maximum exposure to credit risk and credit quality analysis

Maximum exposure to credit risk

Maximum credit exposure to credit risk before collateral held or other credit  

enhancements.

The maximum credit exposure, that is, the total amount of loss that the Society  

would suffer if every counterparty to the Society’s financial assets were

to default at once, is represented by the carrying amount of the financial assets  

shown on the statement of financial position as at the reporting date.

Credit quality

The Society identifies changes in credit risk by tracking published external credit  

ratings. To determine whether published ratings remain up to date and to assess  

whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk at the reporting date  

that has not been reflected in published ratings, the Society supplements this by  

reviewing changes in bond yields together with available press and regulatory  

information on issuers.

The following table sets out information about the credit quality of loans.

31 December 2022 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Performing 3,900,019 131,850 - 4,031,869

Non-performing - - 120,883 120,883

3,900,019 131,850 120,883 4,152,752

Loss allowance (87,081) (13,036) (120,883) (221,000)

3,812,938 118,814 - 3,931,752

31 December 2021 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Performing 3,350,865 74,363 - 3,425,228

Non-performing - - 75,098 75,098

3,350,865 74,363 75,098 3,500,326

Loss allowance (74,844) (9,036) (15,846) (99,726)

3,276,021 65,327 59,252 3,400,600
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4. Financial Risk Management (continued)

(b) Credit Risk (continued)

(iii) Maximum exposure to credit risk and credit quality analysis (continued)

Concentration of risk

The following table summarises the Society’s credit exposure for consumer loans at their  

carrying amounts:
2022 2021

$’000 $’000

Real estate 72,662 34,966

Unsecured 2,533,972 1,958,779

Cash secured 809,890 622,479

Motor vehicle 736,228 884,102

4,152,752 3,500,326

Less: Allowance for impairment losses (221,000) (99,726)

3,931,752 3,400,600

The closing loss allowances for loans receivables as at 31 December 2022 reconcile to  

the opening loss allowances is as follows:

2022

$’000

2021

$’000

Balance at beginning of the year

Increase in loss allowance recognised in profit or loss  

during the year

Balance at year end

99,726 89,497

121,274 10,229___________    _________
221,000 99,726
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4. Financial Risk Management (continued)

(b) Credit Risk (continued)

(iv) Impairment

Inputs, assumptions and techniques used for estimating impairment

(a) Significant increase in credit risk

When determining whether the risk of default on a financial instrument has  

increased significantly since initial recognition, the Society considers  

reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available without  

undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative information  

and analysis, based on the Society’s historical experience and third party  

policies including forward-looking information.

The objective of the assessment is to identify whether a significant increase in  

credit risk has occurred for an exposure by comparing:

- the remaining lifetime probability of default (PD) as at the reporting date;  

with

- the remaining lifetime PD for this point in time that was estimated at the  

time of initial recognition of the exposure (adjusted where relevant for  

changes in prepayment expectations).

The Society uses three criteria for determining whether there has been a  

significant increase in credit risk:

- quantitative test based on movement in PD;

- qualitative indicators; and

- the 30 days past due backstop indicator.

Credit risk grades:

The Society allocates each exposure a credit risk grade based on a variety of

data that is determined to be predictive of the risk of default and applying

experienced credit judgment. The Society uses these grades in identifying

significant increases in credit risk. Credit risk grades are defined using

qualitative and quantitative factors that are indicative of the risk of default.

These factors may vary depending on the nature of the exposure and the type of

borrower.
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4. Financial Risk Management (continued)

(b) Credit Risk (continued)

(iv) Impairment (continued)

(a) Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

Each exposure is allocated a credit risk grade on initial recognition based on

available information about the borrower. Exposures are subject to ongoing

monitoring, which may result in an exposure being moved to a different credit

risk grade. The monitoring typically involves use of the following data:

- Information obtained during periodic review of customer files.

- Actual and expected significant changes in the political, regulatory and  

technological environment of the borrower.

- Payment record, which includes overdue status as well as a range of  

variables about payment ratios.

- Existing and forecast changes in business, financial and economic  

conditions.

Determining whether credit risk has been increased significantly:

The Society assesses whether credit risk has increased significantly since initial

recognition at each reporting date. Determining whether an increase in credit

risk is significant depends on the characteristics of the financial instrument and

the borrower.

Credit risk is deemed to increase significantly where the credit rating of a

security decreased from grade 1 to grade 3 and the risk grade of loans has moved

from grade 1 (standard) to grade 3 (sub-standard).

As a backstop, the Society considers that a significant increase in credit risk

occurs no later than when an asset is more than 30 days past due. Days past due

are determined by counting the number of days since the earliest elapsed due

date in respect of which full payment has not been received. Due dates are

determined without considering any grace period that might be available to the

borrower.
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4. Financial Risk Management (continued)

(b) Credit Risk (continued)

(iv) Impairment (continued)

(a) Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

Determining whether credit risk has been increased significantly (continued)

If there is evidence that there is no longer a significant increase in credit risk  

relative to initial recognition, then the loss allowance on an instrument return  

to being measured as 12-month ECL. Some qualitative indicators of an  

increase in credit risk, such as delinquency or forbearance, may be indicative  

of an increased risk of default that persists after the indicator itself has ceased  

to exist. In these cases, the Society determines a probation period during which  

the financial asset is required to demonstrate good behaviour to provide  

evidence that its credit risk has declined sufficiently. When contractual terms  

of a loan have been modified, evidence that the criteria for recognising lifetime  

ECL are no longer met includes a history of up-to-date payment performance  

against the modified contractual terms.

The Society monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify  

significant increases in credit risk by regular reviews to confirm that:

- the criteria are capable of identifying significant increases in credit risk  

before an exposure is in default;

- the criteria do not align with the point in time when an asset becomes 30  

days past due;

- the average time between the identification of a significant increase in  

credit risk and default appears reasonable;

- exposures are not generally transferred directly from 12-month ECL  

measurement to credit-impaired; and

- there is no unwarranted volatility in loss allowance from transfers between  

12-month PD (Stage 1) and lifetime PD (Stage 2).
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4. Financial Risk Management (continued)

(b) Credit Risk (continued)

(iv) Impairment (continued)

(a) Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

Determining whether credit risk has been increased significantly (continued)

The Society monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify

significant increases in credit risk by regular reviews to confirm that

(continued):

- the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Society in full,  

without recourse by the Society to actions such as realising security (if any  

is held);

- the borrower is more than 90 days past due on any material credit obligation  

to the Society; or

- it is becoming probable that the borrower will restructure the asset as a  

result of bankruptcy due to the borrower’s inability to pay its credit  

obligations.

Definition of default:

In assessing whether a borrower is in default, the Society considers indicators

that are:

- qualitative: e.g. breaches of covenant;

- quantitative: e.g. overdue status and non-payment on another obligation of  

the same issuer to the Society; and
- based on data developed internally and obtained from external sources.

Inputs into the assessment of whether a financial instrument is in default and  

their significance may vary over time to reflect changes in circumstances.

(b) Incorporation of forward-looking information

The Society incorporates forward-looking information into both the

assessment of whether the credit risk of an instrument has increased

significantly since its initial recognition and the measurement of ECL.
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4. Financial Risk Management (continued)

(b) Credit Risk (continued)

(iv) Impairment (continued)

(b) Incorporation of forward-looking information (continued)

The Society uses a forward-looking scorecard model to estimate the potential  

impact of future economic conditions. It formulates three economic scenarios:  

a base case, which is the median scenario assigned a 50% probability of  

occurring, and two less likely scenarios, one upside and one downside, assigned  

a 20% and 30% probability of occurring respectively. Each scenario considers  

the expected impact of inflation, interest rates, unemployment rates and gross  

domestic product (GDP).

The base case is aligned with information used by the Society for other purposes

such as strategic planning and budgeting. External information considered

includes economic data and forecasts published by governmental bodies and

monetary authorities in Jamaica, supranational organisations and selected

private-sector and academic forecasters.

The economic scenarios used as at 31 December 2022 assumed no significant

changes in key indicators for Jamaica within the next year.

(c) Measurement of ECLs

The key inputs into the measurement of ECL are the term structure of the

following variables:

- Probability of Default (PD);

- Loss Given Default (LGD); and

- Exposure at Default (EAD).

ECL for exposures in Stage 1 is calculated by multiplying the 12-month PD by

LGD and EAD. Lifetime ECL is calculated by multiplying the lifetime PD by

LGD and EAD.
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4. Financial Risk Management (continued)

(b) Credit Risk (continued)

(iv) Impairment (continued)

(c) Measurement of ECLs (continued)

LGD is the magnitude of the likely loss if there is a default. The Society  

estimates LGD parameters based on the history of recovery rates of claims  

against defaulted counterparties. The LGD models consider the structure,  

collateral, seniority of the claim, counterparty industry and recovery costs of  

any collateral that is integral to the financial asset. For loans secured by  

property, loan-to-value (LTV) ratios are a key parameter in determining LGD.  

LGD estimates are recalibrated for different economic scenarios and, for real  

estate lending, to reflect possible changes in property prices. They are  

calculated on a discounted cash flow basis using the effective interest rate as  

the discounting factor.

EAD represents the expected exposure in the event of a default. The Society

derives the EAD from current exposure to the counterparty and potential

changes to the current amount allowed under the contract and arising from

amortization.

The EAD of a financial asset is its gross carrying amount at the time of default.

For lending commitments, the EADs are potential future amounts that may be

drawn under the contract, which are estimated based on historical observations

and forward-looking forecasts. For financial guarantees, the EAD represents the

amount of the guaranteed exposure when the financial guarantee becomes

payable. For some financial assets, EAD is determined by modelling the range

of possible exposure outcomes at various points in time using scenario and

statistical techniques.

As described above, and subject to using a maximum of a 12-month PD for

Stage 1 financial assets, the Society measures ECL considering the risk of

default over the maximum contractual period (including any borrower’s

extension options) over which it is exposed to credit risk, even if, for credit risk

management purposes, the Society considers a longer period. The maximum

contractual period extends to the date at which the Society has the right to

require repayment of an advance or terminate a loan commitment or guarantee.

Whereby the regulatory and general computations exceed the accounting

standards the additional allowance is treated as an appropriation and taken to

reserves.
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4. Financial Risk Management (continued)

(c) Liquidity risk:

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Society is unable to meet its payment obligations

associated with its financial liabilities when they fall due and to raise funds to meet

commitments associated with financial instruments. Prudent liquidity risk management

implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities to meet obligations when

due, under normal and also under stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable

losses or risking damages to the Society’s reputation.

The key measure used by the Society for managing liquidity risk is the ratio of liquid

assets to members’ savings. For this purpose, liquid assets include cash and bank

balances and highly liquid investments which are readily converted into cash within three

months. The liquid asset ratio at the end of the year was approximately 19% (2021:

320.03%). The minimum standard is 15%.

There has been no change to the Society's exposure to liquidity risk or the manner in

which it manages and measures the risk.

Liquidity risk management process

The Society’s liquidity management process includes:

(i) Monitoring future cash flows and liquidity on a dailybasis;

(ii) Maintaining marketable and diverse assets that can easily be liquidated as protection 

against any unforeseen interruption to cash flow;
(iii) Maintaining a committed line of credit;

(iv) Optimizing cash returns on investment.

Monitoring and reporting take the form of an analysis of the cash balances and expected

investment maturity profiles for the next day, week and month, respectively, as these are

key periods for liquidity management. The starting point for those projections is an analysis

of the contractual maturity of the financial liabilities and the expected collection date of the

financial assets.

The maturities of assets and liabilities and the ability to replace, at an acceptable cost,

interest-bearing liabilities as they mature, are important factors in assessing the liquidity of

the Society and its exposure to changes in interest rates and exchange rates.
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4. Financial Risk Management (continued)

(c) Liquidity risk (continued)

Undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities

The maturity profile of the Society’s financial liabilities at year end on contractual  

undiscounted payments was as follows:

Assets available to meet all of the liabilities and to cover financial liabilities include cash and cash  

equivalents, investment securities and loans to members.

(d) Market risk

The Society takes on exposure to market risks, which is the risk that the fair value or future cash

flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risks

mainly arise from changes in foreign currency exchange rates (see 4 (d) (i)), interest rates (see

4 (d) (ii)) and equity price risk (see 4 (d) (iii)). The objective of market risk management is to

manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the

return. Market risk exposures are measured using sensitivity analysis.

There has been no significant change in exposure to market risks or the manner in which  

it manages and measures the risk.

(i) Currency risk

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial

instrument will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Society

is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from currency exposure primarily with

respect to the US dollar. Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial

transactions and recognised assets and liabilities.

Within  

1 month

1 to 3  

months

3 to 12  

months

1 - 8
years Total

Carrying  

amount

$’000 $’000 $’000

2022
$’000 $’000 $’000

Payables 98,061 90,791 - - 178,141 178,141
Members’ savings - 3,015,581 - - 3,015,581 3,015,581
External credits 10,356 39,708 281,900 1,216,034 1,547,998 1,221,207
Lease Liability 35 69 311 878 1,293 1,155

108,452 3,146,149 282,211 1,216,912 4,743,013 4,416,084

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2021

Payables 89,042 187,142 - - 276,184 276,184
Members’ savings - 2,704,508 - - 2,704,508 2,704,508
External credits 6,952 13,905 259,871 436,364 717,092 567,278

95,994 2,905,555 259,871 436,364 3,697,784 3,547,970
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4. Financial Risk Management (continued)

(d) Market risk (continued)

(i) Currency risk (continued)

The Society is primarily exposed to such risks arising from foreign currency  

translation in relation to cash and cash equivalents.

Financial assets quoted in denominated foreign currency are as such:-

2022 2021

Cash at bank

US$

10,982

US$

1,263

10,982 1,263

2022 2021

Currency $’000 $’000

Rate of exchange 149.96 152.75

Jamaican equivalent 1,647 193

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to fluctuations in the exchange rates

of the currencies held by the Society before tax, with all other variables held

constant.

2022 2022 2021 2021

Effect on Profit and loss and equity

Devaluation Revaluation Devaluation Revaluation

-4% 1% -8% 2%

Currency:

USD (66) 16 (15) 4
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4. Financial Risk Management (continued)

(d) Market risk(continued)

(ii) Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the value or future cash flows of a financial instrument

will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. Floating rate instruments

expose the Society to cash flow interest risk, whereas fixed interest rate instruments

expose the Society to fair value interest risk.

The Society’s interest rate risk policy requires it to manage interest rate risk by

maintaining an appropriate mix of fixed and variable rate instruments and managing

maturities of interest-bearing financial assets and interest-bearing financial liabilities.

At the reporting date, financial liabilities subject to interest rates aggregated

$4,236,787,540; (2021: $3,271,786,609). The Society contracts financial liability at a

fixed interest rate, hence, changes in the market interest rate will not affect the cash

flow nor the carrying amount of the instruments.

The following table summarizes the Society’s exposure to interest rate risk. It includes

the Society’s financial instruments at carrying amounts, categorized by the contractual

re-pricing or maturity dates.

Within 3
months

3 to12
months

1 to5
years

Over 5
years

Non-interest
bearing Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2022

Assets  

Investment  

Securities 12,027 75,000 205,000 135,000 - 427,027
Loans receivables 20,437 59,560 1,372,673 2,476,540 2,542 3,931,752
Cash and cash
equivalents 166,548 - - - 1,902 168,450

Total financial assets 199,012 134,560 1,577,673 2,611,540 4,444 4,527,229

Liabilities

Members’ savings 3,015,581 - - - - 3,015,581
External credits 29,003 278,531 397,561 516,111 - 1,221,206

Payables - - - - 178,141 178,141

Lease liability 27 55 258 815 - 1,155

Total financial  

liabilities 3,044,611 278,586 397,819 516,926 178,141 4,416,083

Total interest re-

pricing gap (2,845,599) (144,026) 1,179,854 2,094,614 (173,697) 111,146
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4. Financial risk management (continued)

(d) Market risk (continued)

(ii) Interest rate risk (continued)

Within 3
months

3 to12
months

1 to5
years

Over 5
years

Non-interest
bearing Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2021

Assets

Investment securities 12,360 - 205,000 210,000 - 427,360
Loan receivables 19,082 51,713 1,568,970 1,758,262 2,573 3,400,600
Cash and cash
equivalents 39,608 - - - 101,887 141,495

Total financial assets 71,050 51,713 1,773,970 1,968,262 104,460 3,969,455

Liabilities

Members’ savings 2,704,508 - - - - 2,704,508
External credits 3,688 207,434 34,431 321,725 567,278

Payables - - - - 276,184 276,184

Total financial

liabilities

Total interest re-
pricing gap

2,708,196 207,434 34,431 321,725 276,184 3,547,970

(2,637,146) (155,721) 1,739,539 1,646,537 (171,724) 421,485

The Society has no significant sensitivity to interest rate risk as all borrowings are at

fixed rates.

The sensitivity of the net surplus is the effect of the assumed changes in interest rates on

net income based on the floating rate financial assets and financial liabilities. The sensitivity

of equity is calculated by revaluing fixed rate available-for-sale financial assets for the

effect of the assumed changes in interest rates. The correlation of variables will have a

significant effect in determining the ultimate impact on market risk, but to demonstrate the

impact due to changes in variable, variables had to be on an individual basis. It should be

noted that movements in these variables are non-linear.
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4. Financial risk management (continued)

(d) Market risk (continued)

(iii) Price risk

Price risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a result

of changes in market prices, whether those changes are caused by factors specific to

the individual instrument or its issuer or factors affecting all instruments traded in the

market.

The Society is exposed to equity price risk because of equity investments held and

classified on the statement of financial position as available for sale. The Society

manages its price risk by trading these instruments when appropriate to reduce the

impact of any adverse price fluctuations. The price of these commodities is reviewed

regularly in considering the need for active financial risk management.

The impact of a change in the quoted prices for these equities would be:

2022 2022 2021 2021

Effect on Profit and loss and equity

Increase Decrease Increase Decrease

6% 6% 5% 5%

12,000 (12,000) 10,000 (10,000)
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4. Financial Risk Management (continued)

(e) Operational risk

Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss arising from a wide variety of  

causes associated with the Society’s processes, personnel, technology and  

infrastructure, and from external factors other than credit, market and liquidity risks  

such as those arising from legal and regulatory requirements and generally accepted  

standards of corporate behaviour. Operational risks arise from all of the Society’s  

operations.

The Society’s objective is to manage operational risks so as to balance the avoidance of

financial losses and damage to the Society’s reputation with overall cost effectiveness and

to avoid control procedures that restrict initiative and creativity.

The primary responsibility for the development and implementation of controls to address

operational risk is assigned to senior management. This responsibility is supported by the

development of overall standards for the management of operational risk in the following

areas:

• Requirement for appropriate segregation of duties, including the independent  

authorisation of transactions;

• Requirements for the reconciliation and monitoring of transactions;

• Compliance with regulatory and other legal requirements;

• Documentation of control and procedures;

• Requirement for the periodic assessment of operational risks faced, and the  

adequacy of controls and procedures to address the risks identified;

• Requirements for the reporting of operational losses and proposed remedial action;

• Development of a contingency plan;

• Risk mitigation, including insurance where this is effective.

Compliance with the Society’s standards is supported by a programme of periodic  

reviews which are discussed with management and submitted to the Board.
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4. Financial Risk Management (continued)

(f) Capital management

The Society is subject to capital requirements. The Society's objectives when managing  

capital are :

(1) To comply with the capital requirements set by the Department of Co-operatives  and 

Friendly Societies;

(2) To safeguard the Society's ability to continue as a going concern so that it can continue  

to provide returns to its members and benefits for other stakeholders;

(3) To maintain a strong capital base to support the development of its business through  

the allocation of at least 25% of surplus to institutional capital and;

(4) To maintain an above 8% ratio of institutional capital to total assets.

The Society defines its capital as permanent shares and reserves. Its dividend payout is  

made taking into account the maintenance of an adequate capital base.

The composition of regulatory capital and the ratios of the Society as at 31 December 2022  

and 31 December 2021 are as follows:

2022 2021

Actual Required Actual Required

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Total regulatory capital 485,735871,851 760,497 414,370

Total capital ratio 14% 8% 15% 8%
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5. Critical accounting estimates and judgements in applying accounting policies

The Society makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting

accounting estimates will seldom equal the related actual results. Estimates and judgements

are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including

expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

(i) Impairment of financial assets

The loss allowances for financial assets are based on assumptions about risk of default

and expected loss rates. The Society uses judgement in making these assumptions and

selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation, based on the Society’s past history,

existing market conditions as well as forward looking estimates at the end of each

reporting period. Details of the key assumptions and inputs used are disclosed in the

Credit risk note.

(ii) Depreciable assets

Estimates of the useful life and the residual value of property, plant and equipment are

required in order to apply an adequate rate of transferring the economic benefits

embodied in these assets in the relevant periods. The Society applies a variety of

methods in an effort to arrive at these estimates from which actual results may vary.

Actual variations in estimated useful lives and residual values are reflected in profit or

loss through impairment or adjusted depreciation provisions.

(iii) Fair value of financial assets

The management uses its judgment in selecting appropriate valuation techniques to

determine fair values of financial assets adopting valuation techniques commonly used

by market practitioners supported by appropriate assumptions as set out in Note 3(a).
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6. Investment properties

2022 2021

$’000 $’000

Balance at the beginning of year 42,500 35,000

Additions 370,385 -

Transfer from property, plant and equipment 375,058 -

Fair value gains - 7,500 

787,943 42,500

Depreciation of investment properties (10,211) -

Balance at end of year 777,732 42,500 

(i) The Mona property, which is a residential dwelling, located at Lot 18 Palmoral Avenue,

Mona Heights, Kingston 6. The fair value at 31 December 2022 was arrived at on the

open market value basis by a Licenced Real Estate Dealer, Thomas, Forbes & Associates

Limited.

(ii) The Portmore property, which is a residential dwelling , located at Lot 682 Kent Avenue,

Bridgeport, was revalued on 20 January 2022, on the open market value basis by

Thomas, Forbes & Associates Limited, licenced valuators and real estate agents.

(iii) The Montego Bay property, which is a commercial building, is located at Lot 27

Fairview, Bogue Estate, was revalued on 9 August 2021, on the open market value basis

by Thomas, Forbes & Associates Limited, licenced valuators and real estate agents.

(iv) The Mandeville property, which is a commercial building, is located at Lot 3, Caledonia,

Mandeville, Manchester, was purchased during 2021 for the sum of $60m.

(v) The Portmore property, which is a commercial building, is located at Lot 6E Cookson

Pen and Bushy Park Pen, Braeton, was revalued on 27 October 2022 on the open market

value basis, by Thomas, Forbes & Associates Limited, licenced valuators and real estate

agents.

(vi) Rental income and direct operating expenditure in relation to investment properties are

as follows:

2022

$’000

9,041

(8,274)

767

2021

$’000

552

(545)

7

Rental income

Direct operating expenses (Note 25)
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7. Financial investments
2022

$’000

2021

$’000

Investment securities at amortized cost

Deferred shares:

6.75%-7.00% Victoria Mutual  

Society – Deferred shares

Building

200,000 200,000

Corporate Bond:

6% VMWM Property Fund 75,000 75,000

Investment securities at fair value through profit  

or loss

Unit in unit trust funds:

Victoria Mutual Wealth Management Fund 147,247 147,343

CUMAX Investment Fund 4,780 5,017

152,027 152,360

427,027 427,360

The movement in investment securities is as follows:

2022

$

2021

$

Balance at beginning of year 427,360 600,811

Fair value (losses)/gains (333) 66,352

Additions to investment securities - 5,017

Disposal of investment securities - (244,820)

Balance at end of year 427,027 427,360

The Society invested in deferred shares and a bond as shown above. These investments

may result in a credit exposure in the event that the counter party to the transactions is

unable to fulfill its obligations. The Society did not recognize impairment losses on these

agreements because the amount was immaterial. The deferred shares are expected to

mature on July 2024 and July 2025.
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8. Loan receivables

2022 2021

$’000 $’000

Balance at beginning of year 3,464,933 2,598,534

Loans granted 1,768,831 2,106,624

5,233,764 4,705,158

Less: Repayments (1,133,188) (1,240,225)

4,100,576 3,464,933

Less: Impairment loss allowance (221,000) (99,726)

3,879,576 3,365,207

Interest receivable 52,176 35,393

Balance at end of year 3,931,752 3,400,600

Loans to members, before impairment loss allowance, comprise:

2022 2021

$’000 $’000

Motor vehicle loans 736,228 884,102

Mortgage loans 61,886 34,966

Regular loans 2,623,316 2,108,535

Other loans 679,146 437,330

4,100,576 3,464,933

Movement of the expected credit loss provision is as follows:

2022 2021

$’000 $’000

Balance at beginning of year 99,726 89,497

Increase in expected credit loss provision 139,553 34,796

Bad debt written off (18,279) (24,567)

Balance at end of year 221,000 99,726

Full provision of principal is made for loans in arrears over one year. General provision of

10% - 60% are established in respect of principal in arrears for 2 - 12 months. Provision is

made for all interest in arrears in excess of 2 months.
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8. Loan receivables (continued)

The ageing of the loans at the reporting date was as follows:

2022 2021

$’000 $’000

Current 3,782,495 3,324,620

30 days 120,520 21,997

60 days 92,632 58,513

60 - 90 days 40,183 31,765

91 - 180 days 42,917 18,361

181 - 365 days 31,690 20,096

Over 365 days 42,315 24,974

4,152,752 3,500,326

Less: Impairment loss allowance (221,000) (99,726)

Balance at end of year 3,931,752 3,400,600

The individually impaired loans mainly relate to members who are in unexpected difficult  

economic situations. It was assessed that a portion of the receivables is expected to be  

recovered. The ageing of these loans are as follows:

Delinquent loans are summarized as follows:

Monthsin  

arrears

Number of  

accounts in 

arrears

Total loan  

balances

Security held  

against loans

Portion of  

principalnot  

covered by  

savings

Interest  

outstandingon  

delinquent  

loans

$’000 $’000  
2022

$’000 $’000

Less than 2 9 5,210 2,165 3,045 153

2 – 3 46 40,183 461 39,722 1,890

4 – 6 80 42,917 6,464 36,453 2,284

7 – 12 91 31,690 2,261 29,429 4,756

Over 12 78 42,316 888 41,428 11,014

304 162,316 12,239 150,077 20,097

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2021

Less than 2 74 46,765 14,765 31,542 1,300

2 – 3 40 31,765 2,563 29,202 1,168

4 – 6 52 18,361 4,556 13,805 1,436

7 – 12 79 20,096 6,945 13,150 4,078

Over 12 81 24,974 9,000 15,974 7,199

326 141,961 37,829 103,673 15,181
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8. Loan receivables (continued)

The allowance for impairment under the society’s regulatory requirement is below the

provision required under IFRS provisioning rules, hence no amounts have been

recognised in loan loss reserve during the year. The excess of the regulatory provision

over the IFRS provision is normally dealt with through a transfer between accumulated

surplus and loan loss reserve.

9. Cash and cash equivalents

2022

$'000

2021

$'000

Cash at bank

National Commercial Bank Jamaica Limited  

FirstCaribbean International Bank (Jamaica) Limited  

JMMB Bank (Jamaica) Limited

(a)

151,657

1,717

8,743

162,117

100,059

1,868

1,509

103,436

Short term deposits

Victoria Mutual Building Society (b) 6,148 37,874

Cash on hand 185

168,450

185

141,495

(a) Cash at bank substantially comprise savings and operating accounts at licensed  

commercial banks in Jamaica.

The rate of interest earned on the Society’s savings accounts range from 0.75% to  

1.75% (2021: 0.55% to 1.75%) for those that are denominated in Jamaican Dollars.
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9. Cash and cash equivalents (continued)

Cash at bank includes amounts that are denominated in foreign currency, as follows:

2022

US$

10,982

2021

US$

1,263United States Dollars

(b) Short term deposits represent funds held at Victoria Mutual Building Society. The

rate of interest earned on the Society’s savings accounts range from 0.02% to 0.12%

(2021: 0.4%).

10. Other assets

2022

$’000

2021

$’000

Prepayments 1,487 11,463

Staff loans 151,052 148,098

Interest receivable on staff loans 3,711 3,647

Rent deposit 5,002 4,256

Utilities deposit 311 311

Telephone deposit 43 43

General consumption tax 4,444 1,037

Other receivables 165 -

166,215 168,855
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11. Property, plant, and equipment(continued)

(i) The Society’s land and buildings are stated at their revalued amounts, being their fair  

value at date of revaluation less subsequent accumulated depreciation.

(ii) The Society’s building located at 80 Half Way Tree Road, Kingston 5, was revalued 4

June 2021, by independent valuators, Thomas, Forbes & Associates Limited. The

valuation was done on the basis of open market value.

The Society’s building at Lot #27, Bogue Estate, St. James was revalued 9 August 2021,

by independent valuators, Thomas, Forbes and Associates Limited. The valuation was

done on the basis of open market value.

Thomas, Forbes and Associates Limited are members of the Real Estate Board of

Jamaica and are licensed to practice appraisals.

(iii) During the year 2021, the Society purchased building located at Lot 3, Caledonia,  

Mandeville, Manchester, was purchased during 2021 for the sum of $60m..

(iv) Work-in-progress includes legal fees and payments made for the purchase and

construction of commercial properties in Portmore, St. Catherine and Drax Hall, St.

Ann.

(v) During the year the Society transferred property from property, plant and equipment to  

investment properties for building located in St. James and Manchester.

(vi) All of the Society’s properties (as stated in ii, iii, and iv above) have been pledged as

security for the borrowings of loans from Victoria Mutual Building Society, CUMAX

Wealth Management and JMMB Bank (Jamaica) Limited. See Note 7.

(vii) Rental income and direct operating expenditure in relation to owner-occupied properties  

are as follows:

2022

$’000

Rental income

Direct operating expenses (Note 25)

-

2021

$’000

7,127

- (109)

- 7,018
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12. Right-of use asset and related lease liability

(i) Amounts recognised in the balance sheet

The statement of financial position shows the following amounts relating to leases: -

Right-of-use asset
2022

$’000

2021

$’000

Balance as at beginning of the year - -

Additions 1,440 -

Amortization (360) -

Balance as at end of year 1,080 -

Lease liability

Balance as at beginning of the year

2022

$’000

-

2021

$’000

-

Additions 1,440 -

Lease payments (384) -

Interest expense 99 -

Balance as at end of year 1,155 -

2022 2021

$’000 $’000

Current 340 -

Non-current 815 -

Balance as at end of year 1,155 -

The statement of profit or loss shows the following amounts relating to leases:

2022 2021

$’000 $’000

Amortization of right-of-use assets (included in  

administrative expenses) 360 -

Interest expense (included in finance costs) 99 -

Amounts recognised in the statement of cash flows

2022 2021

$’000 $’000

Total cash outflows for leases 384 -

(ii)

(iii)
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13. Intangible assets

(a) Software

2022 2021

Cost $'000 $'000

Balance at the beginning of the year 45,793 45,979

Disposal - (186)

Balance at the end of the year 45,793 45,793

Amortization

Balance at the beginning of the year 40,889 37,530

Charge for the year 4,904 3,406

Relieved on disposal - (47)

Balance at the end of the year 45,793 40,889

Net book value - 4,904

Intangible assets comprise computer software acquired by the Society. Amortization of the  

computer software is calculated based on an estimated useful life of three years.

The amortization of intangible assets is charged to the administration expenses in the  

statement of comprehensive income.
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14. Permanent shares

2022 2021

$’000 $’000

Balance at beginning of year 58,438 58,749

Increase/(decrease) in shares 4,868 (311)

Balance at end of year 63,306 58,438

Each member is required to subscribe to a minimum of two thousand (2,000) shares at par value

of one dollar ($1) each. These shares cannot be withdrawn but may be subject to sale, transfer or

repurchase by the Society.

Dividends declared

In a meeting of the Board of Directors held on May 28, 2022 (October 15, 2021) a dividend of

$73,610,000 (2021: $62,878,000) representing approximately 3% (2021: 3%) of ordinary shares

and 6% (2021: 5%) of permanent shares was declared:

2022 2021

$’000 $’000

Permanent shares 3,252 2,501

Ordinary shares 70,358 60,377

73,610 62,878
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15. Institutional capital

2022 2021

$’000 $’000

Statutory reserve (a) 142,108 135,046

Special reserve (b) 729,743 625,451

871,851 760,497

(a) Statutory reserve

2022 2021

$’000 $’000

Balance at beginning of year 135,046 118,941

Transfer to statutory reserve – 5% 7,062 16,105

Balance at end of year 142,108 135,046

This reserve is established out of the excess of revenue over expenditure each year and  

represents  5%  of such excess. During the year, transfers from surplus amounted to

$7,062,000 (2021: $16,105,000). This is used to assist with the strengthening of the capital  

base of the Society.

(b) Specialreserve

Balance at beginning of year

2022

$’000

625,451

2021

$’000

546,345

Transfer to special reserve - 20% 58,854 51,471

Transfer to special reserve - 27.5%; (2021-20%) 80,924 51,471

Claim payments (35,486) (23,836)

Balance at end of year 729,743 625,451

This reserve is set aside in order to meet insurance claim payments and to strengthen the

capital base of the Society as required by Section 68(7)(ii) of the Friendly Societies Act and

Regulations. The annual amount that is transferred to the special reserve represents 20% of

the net non-interest income.

On May 18, 2023, the Directors passed an ordinary resolution to increase the special  

reserve from 20% to 27.5%.

TIP FRIENDLY SOCIETY ANNUAL REPORT 2022



TIP FRIENDLY SOCIETY
(A Society Registered Under the Friendly Societies Act)

Notes to the Financial Statements  
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16. Non-institutional capital

2022

$’000

2021

$’000

General reserve

Property revaluation reserve  

Undistributed surplus

(a)

(b)

314,857

266,949

138,635

720,441

314,857

266,949

230,916

812,722

(a) General reserve

General reserve represents appropriations from undistributed surplus for the purpose of

strengthening the capital base of the Society. The amount transferred is determined at the

Annual General Meeting based on the availability of appropriate surplus.

(b) Property revaluation reserve

This represents unrealized surplus on revaluation of property, plant and equipment.

2022 2021

$’000 $’000

Balance at beginning of year 266,949 66,616
Surplus arising on the revaluation of property,

plant and equipment (Note 11) - 200,333

Balance at end of year 266,949 266,949

17. Members’ savings

2022 2021

Balance at beginning of year

$’000

2,704,504

$’000

3,285,665

Savings and interest 1,368,253 342,504

4,072,757 3,628,169

Withdrawals and transfers (1,057,176) (923,661)

Balance at end of year 3,015,581 2,704,508

Members’ savings represents voluntary shares which are issued at a par value of $1 per share.  

Interest is paid at a rate ranging between 3.5% and 5% per annum.
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18. External credits

2022 2021

$’000 $’000

Victoria Mutual Building Society (a) 174,152 189,989

Victoria Mutual Building Society (b) 125,895 131,157

Victoria Mutual Building Society (c) 139,335 -

CUMAX Wealth Management (d) 21,682 46,132

JMMB Bank (Jamaica) Limited (e) 139,500 144,000

JMMB Bank (Jamaica) Limited (f) 54,500 56,000

JMMB Bank (Jamaica) Limited (g) 96,143 -

National Commercial Bank Jamaica Limited (h) 470,000 -

1,221,207 567,278

Less: Current portion (307,535) (245,553)

913,672 321,725

(a) This loan of $200M, which was received in April 2021, attracts interest at 5.75% per annum

and is repayable over 120 equal monthly instalments. The loan is secured by Hypothecation

of securities held at Victoria Mutual Wealth Management Limited in the name of TIP

Friendly Society in the amount of $210M.

(b) This loan of $132M, which was received in September 2021, attracts interest rate of 6.90%

per annum and is repayable over 180 equal monthly instalments. The loan is secured by First

Legal Mortgage to be stamped to cover $132M over commercial property located at Strata

1-3, 80 Half Way Tree Road, Kingston 10. Registered at Volume 1201 Folio 712-714.

(c) This loan of $144M, which was received in February 2022, attracts interest rate of 7.00%

per annum and is repayable over 180 equal monthly instalments. The loan is secured

against first legal mortgage Lot 17B, Drax Hall Estate, Drax Hall, St. Ann. Registered at

Volume 1490 Folio 932.

(d) This loan of $50M, which was received in October 2021, attracts interest rate of 6.50% and

is repayable over 24 equal monthly instalments.

The loan is secured against first legal legal mortgage over property located at Caledonia  

Mandeville, Manchester, with title registered at Volume 1417 Folio 425, stamped to cover
$50M.

(e) This loan is a Revolving Line of Credit, which was received in October 2022, attracts

interest rate of 7.95% and is repayable over 12 equal monthly instalments.
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18. External credits (continued)

(f) This loan is a Revolving Line of Credit, which was received in October 2022, attracts

interest rate of 8.50% and is repayable over 12 equal monthly instalments.

(g) This loan of $100M, was received in September 2022, attracts interest at a rate of 10.50%

and is repayable over 60 equal monthly instalments.

(h) This loan of $470M, was received in January 2022, attracts interest at a rate of 6.25%

during the moratorium period of 12 months and 5.75% thereafter. The loan is repayable

over 32 equal monthly instalments of $11,750,000 commencing after the moratorium

period and payable quarterly and one final payment of $94,000,000 at maturity.

Loans (e) to (g) are secured against the following:

(i) First Legal Mortgage to be stamped to cover $144M over commercial property located

at Lot No. 27, Bogue Estate, St. James registered at Volume 1522 Folio 915

(ii) Assignment of fire and allied peril insurance over property Lot No. 27, Bogue Estate,

St. James for the full replacement value with the bank’s interest duly noted as First

Mortgage.

Loan (h) is secured by the following:-

(i) First legal mortgage over property located at Lot 1, 6E Cookson Pen, Greater Portmore,

registered at volume 1333 Folio 914, stamped to cover $470M. Valuation dated 1 July

2021 by Thomas Forbes & Associates Limited reflecting current market value of
$755.5M and forced sale value $680M.

(ii) Assignment of peril insurance with National Commercial Bank Jamaica Limited as the  

beneficiary.

(iii) Assignment of Contractors’ All Risk Insurance established with National Commercial  

Bank Jamaica Limited as the beneficiary.
(iv)Debt service reserve account (DSRA) is to be established with an amount of J$2.45  

million initially, and thereafter built up at a rate of J$592,000 monthly over twenty-four

(24) months until the sum of J$16.66 million is achieved. A lien will be placed on this  

account.

(v) Assignment of contractual right, liquidated damage claim, architectural and construction  

contracts relating to the project.
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19. Payables

2022 2021

Members interest account
$’000

20,000

$’000

10,000
Rental deposits 1,058 1,058
Statutory contributions 7,266 5,820
Audit fee 2,900 2,800
Due to Errol Henry Fund (Note 26) 7,062 16,105
Unallocated lodgments 47,118 40,136
Accrued vacation leave 7,010 7,050
Withholding tax 9,556 13,100
Accruals 42,511 155,426
Credit life insurance - 388
Student self insurance fund 6,275 8,386
Other payables 27,385 15,915

178,141 276,184
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20. Interest on loans

2022 2021

$’000 $’000

Motor vehicle loans 63,278 77,477

Regular loans 437,170 376,317

Other loans 20,652 13,112

521,100 466,906

21. Interest on investment securities

2022 2021

$’000 $’000

Deferred shares 13,926 13,925

Bonds and unit trust funds 4,344 28,817

18,270 42,742

22. Finance costs, net

2022 2021 2021

$’000 $’000

Return on premium expense account 1,465 710

Interest on external credits 82,094 24,556

Foreign exchange losses/(gains) 40 (188)

Lease interest expense 99 -

83,698 25,078
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23. Insurance premium

Members’ contribution represents sixty percent (60%) of the monthly insurance premium

payment made by each member. This amount is used to provide for the following:

(i) Re-insurance cost

(ii) Administrative expenses

(iii) Savings

The premium covers mortality, interest and administrative expenses.

The other forty percent (40%) of the members’ monthly insurance premium is deposited in the

members’ savings accounts. Each member has access to this amount which he/she may withdraw,

allow to accumulate, or used as security for loans.

24. Other income

2022 2021

Other income

$’000 $’000

JCIA income 3,883 4,274

Rental income 10,578 7,679

Loan application fees 30,302 33,943

Other income 16,335 23,725

61,098 69,621
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25. Operating expenses
2022 2021

$’000 $’000

Advertising and promotion  

Scholarships  

Promotional

5,213

28,048

4,088

8,916

33,261 13,004

Administrative expenses

Amortization of intangible assets 4,904 3,406

Amortization of right-of-use asset 360 -

Audit fee 2,900 3,612

Bad debts 18,279 24,567

Bank charges 2,387 4,771

Data processing - 222

Depreciation 42,015 19,326

Donation 5,415 -

Insurance 4,519 2,525

Legal and professional fees 3,988 3,356

Motor vehicle expenses 60 39

Office and general expenses 5,395 4,597

Postage and courier 683 882

Printing and stationery expenses 4,041 2,384

Repairs and maintenance 3,965 13,924

Security 5,632 4,077

Software maintenance 11,688 14,394

Student plan insurance expenses 731 842

Telecommunications 9,815 12,216

Utilities 10,090 7,770

Other administrative expenses 8,646 11,266

143,126 134,176

Balance carried forward 179,161 147,180
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25. Operating expenses (continued)
2022 2021

$’000

179,161

$’000

147,180Balance brought forward

Establishment

Building and ground maintenance 127 372

Rental of premises 1,692 1,915

Property tax 317 317

Utilities 638 227

2,774 2,831

Representation and affiliation

Affiliation expenses 12,347 6,323

Annual general meeting 3,727 4,605

Board and committee expenses 22,834 25,707

38,908 36,635

Personnel expenses

Staff costs (Note 27) 258,957 246,323

Total operating expenses 479,412 432,969

26. Errol Henry Fund

By virtue of an agreement dated 1 February 2004 between the Society and Errol Henry, founding

member of TIP Friendly Society, whereby a payment equivalent to 5% of the annual net surplus be paid

to him over a period of Twenty (25) years ending 1 February 2029. At year end, the amount of

$7,062,000; (2021-16,105,000) was charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income. (Note 19).
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27. Staff costs
2022

$’000

164,950

21,899

48,694

5,043

5,364

2,153

10,854

2021

$’000

150,478

20,462

53,531

4,982

8,142

1,607

7,121

Salaries and wages  

Statutory contributions  

Staff welfare

Pension

Health insurance  

Casual labour  

Other

258,957 246,323

2022 2021

Number of staff:  

Permanent  

Temporary

81

1

76

8

82 84

28. Pension Scheme

The Society is a participant in a contributory pension scheme operated and managed by Sagicor

Life Jamaica Limited. The society’s liability to the contributory pension scheme is limited to

the contributions. During the year, the Society’s contributions amounted to $5,042,689 (2021:
$4,981,864).

29. Comparison of ledger balances

The detailed records of balances relating to loans to members, deposits and share capital  

differed from their respective control accounts as follows:
Loans to

members

$’000

Member’s

deposit

$’000December 31, 2022

De

General ledger 4,100,577 2,220,610

Personal ledger 4,101,406 2,220,611

Difference (829) (1)

cember 31, 2021

General ledger 3,464,933 2,704,508

Personal ledger 3,465,891 2,704,575

Difference (958) (67)
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30. Related party transactions

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or  

exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating decisions.

Related party transactions and balances are recognised and disclosed below for thefollowing:

(a) Enterprises over which a substantial interest in the voting power is owned by key

management personnel, including directors and officers and close members of families; or

(b) Enterprises over which such a person, in (a) above, is able to exercise significant influence.

This includes enterprises owned by directors or major shareholders of the reporting

enterprise and enterprises that have a member of key management in common with the

Society.

As at the statement of financial position date the following balances was outstanding:-

(i) Loan balances (includinginterest)

Board and committee members

2022

$’000

84,377

2021

$’000

88,682

Staff members 196,608 164,933

(ii) Deposits (including interest)

Board and committee members 21,787 28,175

Staff members 8,726 4,916

(i) Sharebalances

Board and committee members 592 462

Staff members 492 475

No waivers were granted in respect of these loans. At 31 December 2022, all loans owing by

directors, committee members and staff were being repaid in accordance with their loan

agreements.
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30. Related party transactions (continued)

Amounts charged to the statement of comprehensive income: -

2022

$’000

Scholarship

500

Key management compensation:

2021

$’000

-

Salaries and other short-term benefits (included in
49,116 51,067

staff costs)

Post employment benefits 7,388 15,238

57,004 66,305
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